THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

OCT 13 2015

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Joseph M. Strickland, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2014-002627  
Common Pleas Case No. 2011-CP-40-7187

South Carolina Community Bank.....Respondent,

v.

Salon Proz, LLC, Columbia Empowerment Zone, Inc. d/b/a The Columbia  
Empowerment Zone, and Frank Mitchell, Defendants,

Of which Salon Proz, LLC is the.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Andrew S. Radeker  
S.C. Bar No. 73743  
Harrison & Radeker, P.A.  
Post Office Box 50143  
Columbia, South Carolina 29250  
(803) 779-2211  
Attorney for Appellant

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Did the master-in-equity err in denying Appellant's motion to transfer the case to the general docket for jury cases where the clerk of court had signed and filed an order referring both a foreclosure claim and compulsory, at-law counterclaims to the master-in-equity and no waiver of Appellant's jury demand had occurred?**
  
- II. Did the master-in-equity err in denying Appellant's motion to transfer the case to the general docket for jury cases where the Appellant's amendment of its answer and counterclaim, which was granted after the order referring the case had been entered, demanded a jury trial and created new issues of fact in addition to those posed by the original answer and counterclaim?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent South Carolina Community Bank (hereinafter “SCCB”) brought this foreclosure action against the Appellant, Salon Proz, LLC (hereinafter “Salon Proz”), and others having or claiming a lien in Salon Proz’s property subject of the foreclosure claim. (R. pp. 7-33.) Attached to the summons and complaint was an unsigned document that the complaint alleged was the note subject of the foreclosure action. (R. pp. 10, 20.) Salon Proz answered the complaint and also asserted counterclaims, on which it demanded a jury trial. (R. pp. 34-42.) The counterclaims asserted in the answer and counterclaim were styled as follows:

1. Breach of contract through breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing;
2. Slander of title;
3. Usury law; and
4. Predatory lending.

(R. pp. 39-41.)

Two months afterward, SCCB sent the clerk of court a motion to refer the case to the master-in-equity. (R. pp. 54-57, 143.) Along with the motion, SCCB sent a proposed order of reference. (R. p. 143.) Neither the motion, the proposed order of reference, nor the accompanying cover letter mentioned Salon Proz’s counterclaims or jury demand. (R. pp. 5-6, 54-57, 143.) Instead, the proposed order of reference only stated that “[i]t appears from the pleadings that the within action has been brought for the foreclosure of a mortgage and lies within the equity jurisdiction of this Court.” (R. p. 5.)

The letter accompanying the motion and proposed order of reference did not ask the clerk of court to sign the proposed order, and the proposed order did not contain the words “clerk of court” under the signature line or any similar words that would indicate that SCCB sought for it to be signed by the clerk of court. (R. pp. 5-6, 143.)

The motion to refer states that SCCB

will move before the Presiding Judge for the Court of Common Pleas for Richland County, or his designee, in the Richland County Judicial Center, on the tenth (10<sup>th</sup>) day after service hereof, at 10:00 a.m., or at such other time and place as the Court may instruct, for an Order referring this case to the Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, as Master In Equity for Richland County[.]

(R. p. 55.)

Nonetheless, and despite Salon Proz’s jury demand and counterclaims being in the clerk of court’s file for the case, the clerk of court signed and filed the order of reference. (R. pp. 5, 34-42.)

Later that year, Salon Proz hired another attorney to take over its representation in this case. (R. pp. 58-61, p. 91 ln. 18-21, p. 94 ln. 15-17.) That attorney got a copy of the clerk of court’s file and discovered the order of reference had been signed and filed. (R. p. 94 ln. 15-17.) Salon Proz’s attorney then consulted with SCCB’s attorney and made a motion to transfer the case back to the general docket for jury cases. (R. pp. 58-61.)

Shortly thereafter, Salon Proz moved to amend its answer and counterclaim, attaching its proposed amended answer and counterclaim, demanding a jury trial, to its motion. (R. pp. 62-75.) The motion to amend sought to make Salon Proz’s counterclaims as follows:

1. Violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-10, *et seq.*;
2. Breach of contract (including, but not limited to, through breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing);
3. Breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act;
4. Slander of title;
5. Libel; and
6. Negligent misrepresentation.

(R. pp. 69-73.)

After a hearing on a number of motions in the case, the master granted Salon Proz's motion to amend but denied the motion to return the case to the jury docket.<sup>1</sup> (R. p. 1.) Neither the order nor the master's spoken words at the hearing state the master's reasoning behind denying the motion. (R. pp. 1-2, p. 100 ln. 20.)

Salon Proz made a timely motion to reconsider. (R. pp. 76-87.) After a hearing on that motion, the master denied it. (R. p. 3.) This appeal followed.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Salon Proz's predecessor counsel never knew of, much less received written notice of, the entry of the order of reference, and the record does not show the contrary. (R. p. 97 ln. 2-6, p. 118 ln. 6-11.) He certainly never consented to the reference of this case to the master-in-equity. (R. p. 118 ln. 6-11.) Given Salon Proz's filed jury demand

---

<sup>1</sup> The master-in-equity also granted SCCB's motion to appoint a receiver, but SCCB later withdrew that motion and consented to the vacation of the order appointing a receiver as part of the master's ruling on Salon Proz's motion to reconsider. (R. pp. 1-3.)

on its at-law counterclaims, its counsel was entitled to believe that a hearing would be held on the motion to refer this case – a hearing that has never been had.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“Whether a party is entitled to a jury trial is a question of law.” Verenes v. Alvanos, 387 S.C. 11, 15, 690 S.E.2d 771, 772 (2010). “An appellate court may decide questions of law with no particular deference to the [lower] court.” Id. at 15.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. No waiver of Salon Proz’s jury demand occurred.**

Because of the sparse nature of the master’s orders and words at the hearings in this case, we do not know why the master denied Salon Proz’s motion to transfer this case to the jury docket. (R. pp. 1-2, p. 100 ln. 20.) SCCB’s counsel argued that former counsel for Salon Proz had tacitly consented to reference to the master-in-equity. (R. p. 96 ln. 3-8, p. 120 ln. 4-18.)

The right to a jury trial is a substantial right, and any contended waiver of the right to trial by jury is strictly construed. Broome v. Watts, 319 S.C. 337, 340, 461 S.E.2d 46 (1995); North Charleston Joint Venture v. Kitchens of Island Fudge Shoppe, Inc., 307 S.C. 533, 535, 416 S.E.2d 637 (1992); Beach Co. v. Twillman, Ltd., 351 S.C. 56, 64, 566 S.E.2d 863 (Ct. App. 2002). “Waiver is the voluntary and intentional relinquishment of a known right.” Provident Life and Accident Ins. Co. v. Driver, 317 S.C. 471, 451 S.E.2d 924, 928 (Ct. App. 1994).

Here, nothing in the record demonstrates that Salon Proz’s predecessor counsel was ever aware of the entry of the order of reference. (R. p. 94 ln. 13-15.) In light of Salon Proz’s filed jury demand on its at-law counterclaims and the language in SCCB’s

motion to refer that stated a hearing would be held on the motion, it was reasonable for Salon Proz's attorney to assume that a hearing would be held on the motion to refer, at which time a circuit judge would decide whether to sign SCCB's proposed order. (R. pp. 34-41, 54-57.) Neither SCCB's motion nor the cover letter submitting the motion and proposed order asked the clerk of court to sign the proposed order of reference. (R. pp. 54-57, 143.)

This record does not show that Salon Proz – through its previous counsel or anyone else – did anything that was a “voluntary and intentional relinquishment” of its right to a jury trial on its counterclaims. *Id.* Salon Proz's predecessor counsel never did anything that indicated consent to the order of reference. He did not participate in any hearing before the master-in-equity, as no hearings were held in the case while he was Salon Proz's lawyer. Especially since a purported waiver of the right to a jury trial is strictly construed, the absence of evidence of any action or omission on the part of Salon Proz or its lawyer indicating such waiver supports the only reasonable conclusion – no such waiver occurred. (R. p. 97 ln. 2-6, p. 118 ln. 6-11.)

**II. The clerk of court lacked the power to refer this case, which ceased to be simply “an action for foreclosure” once Salon Proz asserted other claims, to the master-in-equity.**

Rule 53(b), SCRCP, provides as follows:

In an action where the parties consent, in a default case, or an action for foreclosure, some or all of the causes of action in a case may be referred to a master or special referee by order of a circuit judge or the clerk of court. In all other actions, the circuit court may, upon application of any party or upon its own motion, direct a reference of some or all of the causes of action in a case. Any party may request a jury pursuant to Rule 38 on any or all issues triable of right by a jury and, upon the filing of a

jury demand, the matter shall be returned to the circuit court.

Salon Proz answered and counterclaimed in this case, making a timely jury demand on at-law counterclaims. (R. pp. 34-43.) At that time, this case ceased to be just “an action for foreclosure” and became an action for foreclosure, breach of contract, slander of title, and violation of usury and predatory lending laws. (R. pp. 7-43, p. 94 ln. 20 through p. 95 ln. 10, p. 98 ln. 9-11.) That made this a case that is beyond the scope of the clerk of court’s power and authority under Rule 53(b), SCRCP, to issue orders of reference. (R. pp. 7-43, p. 94 ln. 17 through p. 96 ln. 1, p. 98 ln. 9 through p. 99 ln. 9.)

The order of reference is void. (R. p. 95 ln. 23). The clerk of court lacks the power to refer anything to a master-in-equity other than by consent, in a default case, or in an action for foreclosure – not an action for foreclosure *and other claims*. Rule 53(b), SCRCP. The clerk of court’s reference authority under Rule 53(b) is essentially subject matter jurisdiction on a small scale, since subject matter jurisdiction is the power to hear and determine a certain type of case, e.g., City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff, Inc., 382 S.C. 92, 100, 674 S.E.2d 524, 529 (Ct. App. 2009), and Rule 53(b) vests the clerk of court with the power to determine whether to issue orders of reference only in certain types of cases. The clerk’s reference power is limited to those specific situations, as it should be. Were it otherwise, clerks of court, not judges, would be empowered to determine the merits of whether a case may be properly referred.

An order issued without subject matter jurisdiction is a complete nullity and is without legal effect. E.g., Universal Benefits, Inc. v. McKinney, 349 S.C. 179, 183, 561 S.E.2d 659 (Ct. App. 2002). The issuance of the order of reference by the clerk of

court in this case was beyond the scope of the clerk's power to issue orders of reference. Rule 53(b), SCRCP. The clerk of court had no authority to refer this case, in which claims other than what Rule 53(b) provides a clerk can refer, were pending. Accordingly, the order of reference is void, and it must be vacated.

**III. Even if the clerk of court had had the power to refer Salon Proz's counterclaims to the master-in-equity, the clerk of court was still wrong to do so, and return to the general circuit court docket would still be required under Rule 53(b), SCRCP.**

**a. The plain terms of Rule 53(b) provide that this case must be returned to the general docket for jury cases.**

Rule 53(b), SCRCP, provides that when a case has been referred to a master-in-equity, "[a]ny party may request a jury pursuant to Rule 38 on any or all issues triable of right by a jury and, upon the filing of a jury demand, the matter shall be returned to the circuit court." (R. p. 59.) Under this Rule, the return of this case to the circuit court's general docket for jury cases is required, as a jury demand was made in Salon Proz's pleadings, including in an amended pleading made after the filing of the order of reference. (R. pp. 34, 64, 84-85.) The "return to the circuit court" described in Rule 53(b) is automatic, per the language of the Rule. (R. pp. 84-85.) It is not discretionary. (R. p. 85.) If a decision is to be made concerning whether Salon Proz's legal counterclaims are compulsory (thus entitling Salon Proz to a jury trial on them), that decision will need to be made by the circuit court after this action is returned to the circuit court's general docket for jury cases per the mandatory language of Rule 53(b). (R. p. 85, p. 95 ln. 10-15.)

**b. As Salon Proz's at-law counterclaims are compulsory, the master prejudicially erred in denying the motion to transfer this case to the jury docket.**

The master's decision to deny the motion to transfer this case to the general docket for jury cases was prejudicial error because Salon Proz is entitled to a jury trial in this case. In both its original answer and counterclaim and its amended answer and counterclaim, Salon Proz asserted compulsory at-law counterclaims. Rule 13(a), SCRCP; (R. pp. 39-41, 69-73.) Alternatively, at least the counterclaims asserted in the amended answer and counterclaim are compulsory. (R. pp. 69-73.)

A counterclaim is compulsory if it arises out of the same transaction or occurrence that is the subject of the plaintiff's claim and it does not require that third parties be added as parties to the case. Rule 13(a), SCRCP. An examination of the counterclaims subject of the answer and counterclaim and the amended answer and counterclaim shows that they mostly involve whether the facts are as SCCB claims they are and as they must be in order for SCCB to prevail on its foreclosure claim, whether SCCB is entitled to prevail in this action, and the events concerning SCCB's representations to Salon Proz about the terms of the loan during the loan origination process. (R. pp. 34-41, 64-73.) For example, the original answer and counterclaim alleged "[t]hat Plaintiff committed and engaged in predatory lending by representing that the interest rate would be lower than it was in actuality." (R. p. 41.)

The amended answer and counterclaim makes the compulsory nature of the counterclaims it asserts even more plain. (R. pp. 64-73.) Some excerpts from the amended answer and counterclaim follow:

The Plaintiff unequivocally agreed to settle this matter through a modification of the loan subject of this action.

The Defendant is and has been ready, willing, and able to make monthly payments going forward at the monthly payment amount under the modification.

The Plaintiff cannot maintain this foreclosure action, having settled the foreclosure claim.

...

As shown by the exhibits to the Complaint, the purported note subject of this case is not signed.

As shown by the allegations of the Complaint, the Plaintiff's claim is dependent upon the existence of the purported note subject of this case.

The purported note subject of this case does not exist.

...

The Plaintiff has engaged in a pattern of renegeing upon promises to modify or otherwise restructure loans, including, but limited to, the loan subject of this case.

...

Before the loan subject of this action was made, the Plaintiff promised the Defendant that it would modify or otherwise restructure the loan on terms more favorable to the Defendant.

This promise was part of the consideration for the Defendant's entry into the loan subject of this case.

This promise is part of the terms of the loan subject of this case.

The Plaintiff has refused to honor this promise.

...

The Plaintiff slandered the Defendant's title by recording in the public land records a mortgage document and assignment of rents document, both of which are by their

terms dependent upon the existence of the purported note subject of this case.

The purported note subject of this case does not exist.

The mortgage and assignment of rents contain false statements.

...

The Plaintiff has published statements concerning the Defendant in writing.

Such statements include statements to the effect that the Defendant is currently delinquent in its payments with regard to the loan subject of this action and is in default thereof.

...

The Plaintiff falsely represented to the Defendant that the Plaintiff would modify or otherwise restructure the terms of the loan more favorably to the Defendant.

(R. pp. 68-72.)

An examination of the affidavit of Yvonne Jones, member and operator of Salon Proz, supplies details further showing that the factual happenings that underlie Salon Proz's claims are the same ones that underlie SCCB's claims. (R. pp. 127-130.)

Compulsory, at-law counterclaims made by a defendant in a case in which the plaintiff has asserted only causes of action that sound in equity must be tried by a jury if a jury demand has been made on the claim. Wachovia Bank, N.A. v. Blackburn, 407 S.C. 321, 755 S.E.2d 437 (2014); Johnson v. S.C. Nat. Bank, 292 S.C. 51, 54-56, 354 S.E.2d 895 (1987). What is more difficult in many cases than it seems in the abstract is determining whether a counterclaim is compulsory or permissive.

By order of April 9, 2015, the Supreme Court of South Carolina granted rehearing in Carolina First Bank v. BADD, L.L.C., Op. No. 27486 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed

Jan. 28, 2015) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 4 at 21), undoing what was arguably the most restrictive reading of what constitutes a compulsory counterclaim in a mortgage foreclosure action handed down by the Supreme Court since the adoption of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Carolina First Bank v. BADD, L.L.C., App. Case No. 2013-00107 (S.C. Sup. Ct. Order dated April 9, 2015). In BADD, the Court held that a guarantor who was sued on a cause of action to collect on his guaranty brought in the same case as a foreclosure claim had not asserted compulsory counterclaims, stating as follows:

Here, the execution of the guaranty agreements was the “transaction or occurrence” that gave rise to McKown [the guarantor]’s inclusion in the Bank’s foreclosure complaint. McKown’s civil conspiracy counterclaim does not arise out of that transaction or occurrence because it bears no logical relationship to either the execution or enforceability of the guaranty agreements.

BADD, Op. No. 27486 (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 4 at 26).

This represented a radical departure from the Court’s previous jurisprudence in this area. Never before had our Supreme Court limited what the “transaction or occurrence” giving rise to a claim for debt collection to the *execution* of the contract documents. Up to that point, the Supreme Court’s jurisprudence in this area embraced a far wider set of matters relating to the parties’ relationship as being what arises out of the same transaction or occurrence as the opposing party’s claim.

In N.C. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. DAV Corp., 298 S.C. 514, 518, 381 S.E.2d 903, 905 (1989), the bedrock case of modern South Carolina jurisprudence in this area, the Supreme Court adopted the “logical relationship” test (still our test today) for determining whether a counterclaim is compulsory and held DAV’s counterclaim was

compulsory because “there [was] a logical relationship between the enforceability of the note which [was] the subject of the foreclosure action and the validity of the purported oral agreement which, if performed, would have avoided default on the note by the joint venture.” The Court made clear the reason for doing so: of the four tests considered by the Court for whether a counterclaim is compulsory, the Court settled on the “logical relationship test,” which is “by far the most widely accepted *because of its flexibility*.” Id. (emphasis added). What that “flexibility” means is shown by what the Court did in the DAV case, a case in which the plaintiff’s claim was for foreclosure of a mortgage.

The Court’s description of DAV’s counterclaims follows:

- 1) breach of a subsequent oral contract to arrange additional financing for interest payments and construction costs;
- 2) breach of the joint venture agreement as parent company of joint venturer NCF by bringing the foreclosure action;
- 3) breach of fiduciary duty to co-joint venturers;
- 4) wrongful dissolution of the joint venture by failing to voluntarily refrain from foreclosure as agreed;
- 5) violation of the Unfair Trade Practices Act by breaching the oral agreement;
- 6) breach of two subsequent oral contracts to purchase DAV’s interest in the joint venture.

Id. at 517.

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