THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS  
THE HONORABLE JOSEPH M. STRICKLAND  
MASTER IN EQUITY

---

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002627  
CIVIL ACTION NO. 2011-CP-40-7187

---

South Carolina Community Bank,

**RECEIVED**  
**RECEIVED**  
OCT 12 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

**RESPONDENT,**

versus

Salon Proz, LLC; Columbia Empowerment Zone, Inc.  
d/b/a The Columbia Empowerment Zone; and Frank Mitchell

**DEFENDANTS,**

Of which Salon Proz, LLC is the

**APPELLANT.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

S. Nelson Weston, Jr.  
Carmen V. Ganjehsani  
Charles J. Webb  
RICHARDSON, PLOWDEN & ROBINSON, PA

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

## ARGUMENT

**I. Pursuant to the plain and unambiguous language of South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 53(b), the Clerk of Court had the authority to refer this foreclosure action to the Master-In-Equity.**

Salon Proz contends the Clerk of Court did not have the power and authority pursuant to Rule 53(b), SCRPC to refer this foreclosure action to the Master-In-Equity where Salon Proz asserted counterclaims for breach of contract, slander of title, and violation of usury and predatory lending laws in its original answer. Salon Proz argues that the Order of Reference is therefore void. The argument of Salon Proz is not supported by the language of Rule 53(b).

Under Salon Proz's interpretation of Rule 53(b), it believes the Clerk of Court cannot refer a foreclosure cause of action when other claims are also asserted in the case. The plain and unambiguous language of Rule 53(b), however, expressly permits the Clerk of Court to refer "some or all of the causes of action" in a foreclosure case to the master: "In an action where the parties consent, in a default case, or *an action for foreclosure, some or all of the causes of action in a case* may be referred to a master or special referee by order of a circuit judge or the clerk of court." Rule 53(b) (emphasis added).

If the language of a rule of civil procedure is "plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning, interpretation is unnecessary and the stated meaning should be enforced." Ex parte Wilson, 367 S.C. 7, 15, 625 S.E.2d 205, 209 (2005). The explicit language of Rule 53(b) permits the Clerk of Court to refer *all* of the causes of action asserted in a foreclosure case to the master. There is no limitation on which or what causes of action may be referred in a foreclosure action – the rule states "**all**." The rule does not

distinguish between claims asserted by the plaintiff and counterclaims asserted by the defendant. Again, the rule states “**all**” causes of action in a foreclosure case may be referred.

The language of Rule 53(b) is straightforward and does not support the contorted assertion of Salon Proz that the rule prohibits the referral of an action for foreclosure when other claims are also asserted in the case. The interpretation of Rule 53(b) by Salon Proz directly contradicts the unequivocal language of the rule allowing the referral by the clerk of “some or all of the causes of action” in a foreclosure action.

Pursuant to Rule 53(b), the Clerk of Court had the power and authority to issue the Order of Reference in this case. Having been properly issued by the Clerk of Court pursuant to the authority provided in Rule 53(b), the Order of Reference is not void for want of subject matter jurisdiction or for any other reason. The groundless argument of Salon Proz to the contrary must be rejected by this Court.

**II. Where Salon Proz failed to immediately appeal the Order of Reference referring this foreclosure action to the Master-In-Equity, Salon Proz waived any right it had to a jury trial.**

The Master did not err in denying the motion of Salon Proz to transfer the case to the jury docket where the unappealed Order of Reference was the law of the case. The Order of Reference was filed by the court on February 17, 2012. [R.pp. 4-6; Order.] Salon Proz neither moved for reconsideration of this Order of Reference nor appealed the order. [R.pp. 91, ll. 19-21; 96, ll. 3-8; 120, ll. 7-18.] Six months passed before Salon Proz filed its motion to transfer the case to the general docket for jury cases. [R.pp. 58-60; Motion.]

This State's Supreme Court has held that orders affecting the mode of trial affect substantial rights under S.C. CODE ANN. § 14-3-330(3) and must be immediately appealed. Lester v. Dawson, 327 S.C. 263, 266, 491 S.E.2d 240, 241 (1997). The failure to timely appeal an order affecting the mode of trial effects a waiver of the right to appeal that issue. Id. If an order which affects the mode of trial is not immediately appealed, it becomes the law of the case. Creed v. Stokes, 285 S.C. 542, 542-43, 331 S.E.2d 351, 352 (1985) (holding where appellant failed to timely appeal an order referring dispute to master-in-equity, appellant could not later complain that he had been entitled to a trial by jury); see also Edwards v. Timmons, 297 S.C. 314, 377 S.E.2d 97 (1988) (concluding appellant's failure to immediately appeal order referring matter to the master-in-equity was the law of the case).

Because Salon Proz did not appeal the Order of Reference, it became law of the case. By the time Salon Proz filed its motion to transfer the case to the jury docket, the

mode of trial had been finally determined. Salon Proz waived any right to a jury trial by failing to immediately appeal the Order of Reference.

In its appellant's brief, Salon Proz suggests that it did not receive notice of the Order of Reference and therefore did not waive its right to a jury trial. A review of the record in this case, however, dispels this contention. Salon Proz offered no evidence below that it did not receive notice of the Order of Reference. It instead attempted to improperly shift the burden of proof onto the Bank to show that Salon Proz received an order that the Clerk of Court filed and mailed.

At the March 21, 2013 hearing, counsel for Salon Proz argued that nothing in the record indicated that the Order of Reference was ever provided to Salon Proz or its previous attorney, Mr. Aun. [R.p. 94, ll. 13-15.] Salon Proz made this same argument at the motion for reconsideration hearing held on September 17, 2013, and again implies in its appellant's brief that the Bank has not established that Salon Proz's predecessor counsel was aware of the entry of the Order of Reference. [R.p. 118, ll. 8-11.]

The Order of Reference was filed by the court and presumptively mailed by the court to the attorneys on record with the court which at the time of filing included Mr. Aun. [R.pp. 4-6 (Order); 97, ll. 11-14.] The court did not direct the Bank to serve this Order of Reference. The presumption is therefore that the Clerk of Court fulfilled its duty by mailing the order filed by the court to the attorneys of record, including Mr. Aun. See Howell v. Littlefield, 211 S.C. 462, 468, 46 S.E.2d 47, 49 (1947) (observing presumption is always in favor of a public official's correct performance of duty); Rice v. Bamberg, 72 S.C. 384, 51 S.E. 987, 987 (1905) (“[I]n the absence of proof to the

contrary, the presumption is that these officers performed the duties required of them . . . .”).

Salon Proz has never at any point in this case offered any evidence to rebut the presumption that the court mailed the Order of Reference to Mr. Aun and that Mr. Aun received the order. Salon Proz did not offer or attempt to offer any testimony of Mr. Aun by way of affidavit or otherwise to establish whether or not Mr. Aun received a copy of the filed Order of Reference. Salon Proz did not overcome the presumption that Mr. Aun was mailed a copy of the Order of Reference by the court and accordingly had notice of the entry of the Order of Reference.

By failing to perfect an immediate appeal from the Order of Reference, Salon Proz waived<sup>3</sup> any right it may have had to a jury trial in this foreclosure action, including any right to jury trial it may have had on its counterclaims. Salon Proz nevertheless argues that it is still entitled to a jury trial because it only waived its right to a jury trial on the issues pled in its original answer and counterclaim and not the issues presented by its amended answer and counterclaim.

The case had already been referred in its entirety to the Master-In-Equity, and Salon Proz waived any rights it may have had to a jury trial when it did not immediately appeal the order referring the case. Almost seven months after the Order of Reference was entered, Salon Proz filed a motion to amend its answer and counterclaim after having waived any right to a jury trial. The filing of this amended pleading did not resurrect this

---

<sup>3</sup> Salon Proz cited to several cases in its brief which observe that the waiver of the right to trial by jury is strictly construed, but these cases refer to waiver by contract and not waiver by way of a failure to appeal. See Broome v. Watts, 319 S.C. 337, 340-41, 461 S.E.2d 46, 48 (1995); North Charleston Joint Venture v. Kitchens of Island Fudge Shoppe, Inc., 307 S.C. 533, 535, 416 S.E.2d 637, 638 (1992); Beach Co. v. Twillman, Ltd., 351 S.C. 56, 63-64, 566 S.E.2d 863, 866 (Ct. App. 2002).

right which had already been waived. The matter of a jury trial here was an issue committed to the discretion of the circuit court once it was waived. See King v. Shorter, 291 S.C. 501, 354 S.E.2d 402 (Ct. App. 1987) (holding trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing amended answer asserting unfair trade practice counterclaim but denying motion to transfer case to jury calendar where right to jury trial had been previously waived).

Here, the Master did not abuse his discretion in denying Salon Proz's motion to transfer the case to the jury docket even though the Master allowed Salon Proz to amend its answer and counterclaims. The new claims do not create any new issues of fact. Both the original answer and counterclaim and amended answer and counterclaim are based on underlying factual allegations that the Bank breached its contract with Salon Proz, misrepresented that Salon Proz would ultimately receive a lower interest rate than received through loan modification, restructuring, or otherwise, conducted itself with unclean hands with respect to the loan at the center of this foreclosure action, slandered the title to Salon Proz's property, and denied Salon Proz the right to settle or cure the default with the Bank. [R.pp. 38-41; 67-72; Original Answer and Counterclaim, ¶¶ 31, 37-39, 41-43, 46, 48, 50; Amended Answer and Counterclaim, ¶¶ 29-30, 34, 40-42, 54, 60-67, 71, 74-87, 89.] At the very least, Salon Proz most certainly waived its right to a jury trial on its two breach of contract claims and slander of title claim where those claims were raised in the original answer and counterclaim.

Salon Proz was not entitled to jury trial as a matter of right based on the filing of the amended answer and counterclaim as they contain essentially the same factual allegations and defenses to the debt no matter how Salon Proz may have labeled the

defenses and counterclaims in its amended pleading. The Master committed no abuse of discretion in denying Salon Proz's motion to transfer to the jury docket after Salon Proz had waived that right. See King, 291 S.C. at 502, 354 S.E.2d at 403.

Accordingly, where Salon Proz failed to immediately appeal the Order of Reference filed by the Clerk of Court, Salon Proz waived any right to a jury trial because the order referring all causes of action asserted in the foreclosure action to the Master-In-Equity became law of the case. After Salon Proz waived its right to a jury trial, the Master did not err in denying Salon Proz's motion to transfer the case to the jury docket. This Court should affirm the Master's order denying the motion of Salon Proz to transfer the case to the jury docket.

**III. The Master did not err in denying Salon Proz's motion to transfer this foreclosure action to the jury docket where (1) the entire action, including defenses and counterclaims, lies in equity; and/or (2) Salon Proz is not entitled to a jury trial to the extent the asserted counterclaims are permissive.**

The above inquiry should end the analysis, and this Court should determine that by failing to immediately appeal the Order of Reference, Salon Proz waived any right to thereafter demand a jury trial. If, however, this Court should disagree and find that Salon Proz had not waived its right to a jury trial with respect to any of the asserted counterclaims, the demand of Salon Proz that the case be transferred to the jury docket nevertheless fails where the counterclaims asserted by Salon Proz in this equitable action are either, or both, equitable and permissive.

“Generally, the relevant question in determining the right to trial by jury is whether an action is legal or equitable; there is no right to trial by jury for equitable actions.” Lester v. Dawson, 327 S.C. 263, 267, 491 S.E.2d 240, 242 (1997). “The character of an action as legal or equitable depends on the relief sought.” Cedar Cove Homeowners Ass'n, Inc. v. DiPietro, 368 S.C. 254, 258, 628 S.E.2d 284, 286 (Ct. App. 2006). “[A]n action sounding in law may be transformed to one in equity because equitable relief is sought.” Ins. Fin. Servs., Inc. v. S.C. Ins. Co., 271 S.C. 289, 293, 247 S.E.2d 315, 318 (1978); see also Crewe v. Blackmon, 289 S.C. 229, 232–33, 345 S.E.2d 754, 756–57 (Ct. App. 1986) (concluding that although a complaint included allegations of fraud and misrepresentation, the action was one in equity when most of the relief sought was equitable in nature because the relief sought was reformation of a contract).

A foreclosure action is one sounding in equity, and therefore, a party is not entitled as a matter of right to a jury trial. Wachovia Bank, Nat'l Ass'n v. Blackburn, 407

S.C. 321, 328, 755 S.E.2d 437, 440 (2014). A counterclaim raised in an equitable action may, in certain circumstances, be entitled to a jury trial but only if the counterclaim is legal and compulsory. If a complaint is equitable and the counterclaim is legal and permissive, the defendant waives its right to a jury trial. *Id.* at 328-30, 755 S.E.2d at 441-42.

**A. Pursuant to the Order of Reference, the Master had authority to determine whether or not Salon Proz was entitled to a jury trial on its asserted counterclaims.**

It first appears that Salon Proz has contested the authority of the Master to determine whether the counterclaims asserted by Salon Proz were legal and compulsory and thus entitled to be decided by a jury. Salon Proz contends that upon its filing of a jury demand, the case should have been automatically returned to the circuit court for a ruling on whether the counterclaims were legal and compulsory.

Rule 53(b) provides that “[a]ny party may request a jury pursuant to Rule 38 on any or all issues *triable of right by a jury*, and upon the filing of a jury demand, the matter shall be returned to the circuit court.” Rule 53(b) (emphasis added). Only jury demands of those issues triable of right by a jury trigger the matter’s return to the circuit court. The return to the circuit court is not automatic. There must first be a determination as to whether the action contains any issues to which the party is entitled as a matter of right to have heard by a jury.

When the case has been referred to the master, the master makes the determination as to whether the party demanding a jury trial is entitled to such unless the order of reference limits the master from doing so. Once a matter is referred to a master, Rule 53(c) provides the master “shall exercise all power and authority which a circuit

judge sitting without a jury would have in a similar matter.” Therefore, when a case is referred to a master under Rule 53, the master is given the power to conduct hearings in the same manner as the circuit court unless the order of reference specifies or limits the master's powers. Smith Cos. of Greenville, Inc. v. Hayes, 311 S.C. 358, 360, 428 S.E.2d 900, 902 (Ct. App. 1993).

The Order of Reference in this case authorized the Master to “take testimony, determine the issues involved and report his findings of fact and conclusions of law to this Court with all convenient dispatch, with leave to make findings of fact and conclusions of law as to any special matter, with authority to enter final judgment herein.” [R.p. 5; Order.] There were no limits placed on the Master to conduct the reference. See Bonney v. Granger, 292 S.C. 308, 322, 356 S.E.2d 138, 147 (Ct. App. 1987). Accordingly, it was permissible for the Master, rather than the circuit court, to determine whether or not Salon Proz was entitled to a jury trial.

**B. Salon Proz is not entitled to a jury trial on its asserted counterclaims because the entire action lies in equity.**

As stated above, a foreclosure action is an equitable action. Collier v. Green, 244 S.C. 367, 370, 137 S.E.2d 277, 279 (1964). Further, “[w]here, in actions of foreclosure, defendant sets up a defense and/or counterclaim affecting the consideration, and arising out of the transaction in which the mortgage or lien was created, the authorities hold that the issues thus raised are equitable and are to be tried by the court upon its equity side.” Id. at 371, 137 S.E.2d at 280; see also Byrn v. Walker, 275 S.C. 83, 85, 267 S.E.2d 601, 602 (1980) (observing counterclaims in foreclosure action that affect the validity of a mortgage lien or the amount due are equitable in nature).

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